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PREFACE.





The chief reason for the

appearance of this narrative may be found in the fact that no sustained and

adequate history of the city of Cleveland has been attempted in recent years,

and that this centennial year seemed to demand something that should clearly

set forth the wonderful things that one hundred years have accomplished.




Subordinate reasons are found in

an unusual opportunity for the collection of material, and a deep interest in

all that relates to the creation and development of the great city whose

history is here recorded. In this semi-confidential note to the reader a

personal reference that elsewhere would be out of place may be permitted.




From 1872 to 1889 the writer was

continuously engaged in newspaper and literary labor in Cleveland, the main

part of which was connected with local themes and bore relation to the advance

of the city along those lines of development that in the last twenty-five years

have carried her into the front rank of the great cities of the West. That

which was at first a matter of the day's business became a labor of love, and

day by day, and year by year, the accumulation of historical material went on—a

task that has by no means ceased, even in these later years of absence.




The foundations for this work

were, therefore, laid almost unconsciously, and its appearance may hardly be

looked upon as premeditated. No one is more conscious than the writer of the

fact that a better use of this abundant material might have been made, but he

will not admit that anyone could have carried to the task a deeper personal

interest in the theme, or treasured a closer affection for the beautiful Forest

City, the city of homes, the city in whose record may be found so much to

admire and commend, and so little that needs apology or apologetic explanation.




The most critical reader cannot

more deeply deplore than does the writer the limitations of a work of this

character. A half dozen volumes, rather than one, would have been required to

follow all the enterprises and interests of Cleveland to the complete

conclusion of the record, and to give to each actor in these stirring scenes of

a hundred years the full meed of recognition or praise. In many cases where

only a generalization was possible, notes have been added showing where the

complete record could be obtained, thus enabling the student of our home

history to follow his investigations with the smallest possible outlay of labor

or research. It has also been the aim of the author to give the testimony of

the witnesses themselves where possible, and to that end many direct quotations

have been made from the original sources. The advantages and justice of this

course will be readily recognized.




It would be impossible in the

space here permitted to give individual credit to the many friends who have

assisted in the collection of material, or furnished valuable suggestions as to

sources from which original information might be obtained. Especial mention,

however, must be made of the officers of the Western Reserve Historical

Society, of the Early Settlers' Association of Cuyahoga County, and of the

Chamber of Commerce; the librarian of the Public Library, executive officers of

the various municipal departments, the newspaper managers and editors whose

files have been willingly placed at my service. Acknowledgment of the most

ample character must also be made to Col. Charles Whittlesey's " Early

History of Cleveland,'' the publications of the Western Reserve Historical

Society, and the "Annals of the Early Settlers' Association of Cuyahoga

County." No history of Cleveland can be written, in all time to come, that

is not primarily based upon that admirable and authentic collection of original

papers, that grew into a volume by the earnest and intelligent labor of Col.

Whittlesey. Purporting to be only what they are—disconnected facts collected

from original and widely diverse sources—they supply many links of historical

connection that would have been blanks without them. It was indeed a fortunate

thing for Cleveland and the Western Reserve that this able and careful

historian devoted himself to a labor of such importance, at a period

sufficiently early for the preservation of much that otherwise would have been

a total loss.




The many tracts issued by the

Western Reserve Historical Society largely supplement and carry forward the

good work in the " Early History of Cleveland." The

"Annals" of the Early Settlers came into existence not a moment too soon;

had they been commenced a decade later, some of the most important facts in

regard to pioneer Cleveland would have been lost forever. The papers, speeches

and letters there recorded have proved a veritable gold mine of historical

information, and it would be a great loss to Cleveland and all this portion of

the Middle West were these publications, or those of the older organization,

from any cause, suspended.




This record has been carried as

far as possible into this memorable centennial year. It is placed before the

people of Cleveland, and the sons and daughters of the city, wherever found, in

the hope that it may be regarded as not altogether least among the tributes

paid to that great anniversary of Cleveland's birth.


















 




CHAPTER I. IN THE

WESTERN WILDERNESS.




"While I was in New

Connecticut I laid out a town, on the bank of Lake Erie, which was called by my

name, and I believe the child is now born that may live to see that place as

large as Old Windham."




These are the words in which

Moses Cleaveland, in the year 1796, recorded a prophecy that has been

abundantly fulfilled. Staid Old Windham, where for many years Connecticut

justice held the scales with rigid exactness, was then far in advance of the

newly-named town upon the Cuyahoga, which existed only upon the surveyors'

charts, and in the prophetic vision of its founder. Staid Old Windham lies

to-day in the quiet usefulness of villagehood, while the city by Lake Erie is

well counted one of the great commercial centers of the West. Could Moses Cleaveland

stand for a moment, in this memorable centennial year, where his figure in

bronze keeps ward over the city where his memory is so highly honored, he would

realize that he had built well, and left an impress for all time upon the life

and development of this fair portion of his native land.




It is a romantic story that we

have to tell of the men and women who came into the wooded wilderness on the

shores of Erie, one hundred years ago, and brought with them the ideas and

principles that had even then made New England a power in the moral world—who

faced danger, and withheld themselves from no labor that stood between them and

the creation of a home. This story can never be told in that completeness of

incident which is the very essence of romantic history, but enough has been

written or related by those who had a part therein to make one of the most

entertaining chapters upon the opening of the West.




Privation, toil and danger were

in the wilderness in those days, as the long war between civilization and

savagery went on. While the Western Reserve had its share of death and

disaster, the valley of the Cuyahoga was never drenched in blood as was that of

the Mohawk or the Kentucky; therefore, the story of Cleveland has no record of

sack or pillage, but it has much to tell of want and labor, of a patient sowing

of seed that we of a later day might reap, of brave men and helpful women. It

is a record of the successive steps by which the New England of the East gave

of her brain and sinew for the building of the New England of the West.




A striking picture in this

panoramic view was made when General Cleaveland, upon that fair day in July,

stood on the hills overlooking the Cuyahoga and Lake Erie, and realized that

the end of his journey and the beginning of his real labor of planning and

construction had come together at that point and in that hour.




Could this energetic New

Englander have looked into the past, as he scanned the wooded heights and the

green-edged valley, he would have seen a wonderful chain of events that led

back to the beginnings of time, and of which we know only by the traces left

upon the rocks and in the soil—by the marking fingers of ice, of flood and of

fire.




Those who have studied these

lessons, as they lie upon the surface or beneath the soil, from the gorges of

Rocky River to the ledges of Nelson, tell us that there was a time when Lake

Erie had not made a beginning among the water highways of the world; when its

bed was a wide and nearly level plain, with one river, or perhaps two, flowing

through it. There was little soil upon the country roundabout, and the streams

were deep and wide —the valley of the Cuyahoga lying, perhaps, one hundred and

fifty feet or more deeper than it does to-day.




A marvelous movement of nature

then occurred, and wonderful changes followed in its wake. Nearly all the North

was covered with a continent of ice, which moved in a southerly direction,

carrying stones and soil in great quantities, and leaving the country far more

fertile than it was before. "The Ice Age," we are told by one who has

added so much to our knowledge of past events, "brought to your vicinity

the first pioneers from another country, your boulders. .... While this was

going on, a little south of the ice, streams were depositing gravel, and deep

in that gravel, deposited when it was laid, are the undoubted implements of

glacial man, following up the ice. What may be found of him, here, as the ice

retreated, is not known, but it may safely be presumed that the earliest known

man knew something of your vicinity. His tools of flint, chert or argillite

were very simple and few. His learning was of the slightest. His mark upon the

earth was so small that high authority believes that some catastrophe

overwhelmed him altogether; but perhaps it only happened that some civilized

man raised him at once to a higher civilization, perhaps in a servile

condition.




"After the Ohio had broken

the dam at Cincinnati and regained its former channel; after the plateaus had

been formed and the surface of Ohio became as it is at present, there appeared

a new man, the Mound Builder. . . . .




Weapons and tools of rubbed and

chipped stone, copper pounded but not cast, and galena not melted to lead,

though both were sometimes placed on funeral pyres, unglazed pottery, no burned

bricks, no stone buildings; using baskets to carry dirt, making a very coarse

cloth or matting, having no alphabet; they must have been industrious and

agricultural or they could not have built such immense works. Living mainly on

corn, with a government strong enough to combine them patiently, probably

through priestly superstition, their civilization was not higher than some

Indians when America was discovered. • • • • There is no satisfactory evidence

of any intermediate race between the Mound Builders and the modern northern

Indians." There is a wide space to travel, between the writing of these

records upon the rocks or their burial beneath the soil, and those left in oral

relation or script by men of whose existence we are certain, and whose labors can

be historically recorded. Among the earliest glimmers of knowledge of the

movements of the white man upon this southern shore of Lake Erie may be placed

the visit of Father La Roche Daillon, a Recollect missionary, who as early as

1626 preached to an aboriginal people, by some called the Kakquahs, and by the

French the " Neuter Nation." The headquarters of this tribe, or

nation, were probably upon the north shore of Erie, although they had villages

near the present site of Buffalo, and extending westward along the shore of the

lake. Such information, as this Father has left us, leads to the belief that,

at that time, the southern shore of Lake Erie, say from Cattaraugus Creek, in

New York, to near Sandusky Bay, Ohio, was occupied by a powerful tribe known as

the Erie. In blood, they were kindred to the Iroquois, a fierce and implacable

foe, who, near 1650, waged war upon the Kakquahs, and followed this by a

warfare so fierce and merciless upon the Eries that they were practically swept

from the face of the earth. Whole families were slaughtered, and villages

burned to the ground; some who escaped joined the tribes of the farther West;

children were captured and held for adoption, and warriors, who were taken in

battle, were reserved for torture. This sudden and savage extinction of the

Eries left northeastern Ohio in the hands of the powerful Iroquois . Their

western boundary was set along the Cuyahoga, while their war parties made

occasional excursions beyond.




There is little definite

information as to the year in which the French traders appeared among the

Indian tribes of this section. There is evidence to show that that remarkable

explorer and adventurer, La Salle, was in the country south of the Erie as

early as 1669; discovered the Ohio River, and passed down it as far as the site

of Louisville, where he was abandoned by his men, and compelled to return home

alone. There is a map, of which there is some evidence to show that he was the

author, bearing the date 1672, where the fair body of water to the north of us

is called " Lake Tejocharonting, commonly called Lake Erie."




We begin to tread upon firmer

ground, in considering the records of but a few years later. In 1678, La Salle

was commissioned by Louis XIV. of France to explore that part of the western

wilderness of America called "New France.'" His purpose was

threefold: "To realize the old plan of Champlain, the finding of a pathway

to China across the American continent. To occupy and develop the regions of

the northern lakes. To descend the Mississippi River and establish a fortified

post at its mouth, thus securing an outlet for the trade of the interior, and

checking the progress of Spain on the Gulf of Mexico."




In the early part of 1679, he

built above the falls of the Niagara a vessel of sixty tons, which he named the

"Griffin," and in which he sailed out into the waters of the Erie.

Shipwreck and disaster were the fate of this first vessel of the white man to

spread her sails upon these inland seas. She reached Green Bay, where La Salle

and some of his lieutenants left her, was loaded with furs, set out upon her

return trip, and was never heard of again.




During the years in which the

French and English carried on their long dispute as to the ownership of this

portion of the West, that part east of the Cuyahoga remained in possession of

the Six Nations, who used it as a hunting ground; while that to the west of the

stream was in the main under the control of the Ottawas, Chippewas and

Pottawattomies, their only white visitors being an occasional French or English

fur-trader, or a zealous Jesuit missionary, who had braved the manifold dangers

of the venture for the advancement of his faith.




For the better understanding of

that which immediately follows, it will be necessary to bear in mind the fact that

at the beginning of the Eighteenth Century there were three great European

powers who claimed possessions in North America. Spain was the master of Mexico

and of a portion of the southeast corner of the United States; France held all

to the north of the lakes, west of the Alleghanies, and southward to the

possessions of Spain; while England's claims went from the Spanish line on the

south to the northern lakes and the St. Lawrence, and westward to the

Alleghanies. These are the general outlines. There were disputes in several

directions as to boundary lines, which in many cases were but faintly outlined.




In 1714, Governor Spotswood, of

Virginia, led an expedition which disproved the general belief that the

Alleghanies were impassable. He passed the chain and descended to the Ohio.

Upon his return he informed those who were his superiors in authority, the

British Ministry, that the planting of a settlement in the western valley was a

matter of great importance, and that England's interest did not lie in permitting

France to hold it in undisputed possession.




England moved forward in her

conquests, slowly but surely. She gained the friendship of the great Iroquois

Confederacy—the most powerful organization of Indian tribes in the New

World—who were in possession of the southern shores of Lakes Erie and Ontario.

Many treaties were made with these confederated tribes during the first half of

the Eighteenth Century, and grants of lands of great value were obtained on the

eastern slope of the Mississippi Valley.




It was near the middle of that

century when England acted upon the wise advice of her Virginian governor. An

organization known as "The Ohio Company" was created in 1748, which

received a royal grant of one half million acres of land in the valley of the

Ohio. The endeavors of this company to obtain and hold secure their new

possessions continued for years, and form a chapter of absorbing interest in

the history of Ohio, but have no direct connection with the valley of the

Cuyahoga.




A long step toward the secure

possession of this great empire of the West was taken when, by the treaty of

Paris, made in 1763, England acquired Canada and all the territory east of the

Mississippi and southward to the Spanish Territory, with the exception of New

Orleans and its immediate vicinity. This was followed, in 1768, by a treaty at

Fort Stanwix, between Sir William Johnson and the Six Nations, by which the

lands south of the Ohio and the Alleghany were sold to the British, the Indians

still retaining those north and west of these rivers. The white men who

ventured into the lands to the south of Lake Erie and west of the Alleghanies,

previous to the organized attempts at settlement made to the south by the Ohio

Company and to the north by the Connecticut Land Company, have left few traces

by which their purposes can be clearly understood, or their movements closely

followed. The hardy and venturesome trader, both English and French, who pushed

into the wilderness, and carried the products of civilization to exchange for

those of the chase, reached the mouth of the Cuyahoga at an early day. The

French extended their forts and trading posts to many points on the lakes and

the Ohio River, between 1700 and 1750. In this year last named they possessed a

fort at Sandusky, and five years later a trading house on the Cuyahoga, near

the mouth of Tinker's Creek. The winter of 1755-6 was spent by James Smith, a

Pennsylvanian, in this neighborhood, as a prisoner of the Delawares, and in a

narrative which he penned the sections watered by the Cuyahoga, the Black and

the Kilbuck rivers are fully described. Near the same time a white girl named

Mary Campbell passed five years in a like captivity near the Cuyahoga falls,

not far from the site of Akron. In commenting upon the early traders who pushed

forward to this neighborhood, Colonel Charles Whittlesey says: "After the

British took possession in 1760, French and English traders continued together

to traffic with the Indians on the waters of Lake Erie. No doubt a post was

kept up at some point or points on the river during a large part of the

Eighteenth Century, but such establishments are so slight and temporary that

they are seldom noticed in history. A trading house is a very transient affair.

A small log cabin covered with bark constituted all of what is designated as an

establishment. If the Indian customers remove, the trader follows them,

abandons his cabin, and constructs another at a more convenient place. Within a

year the deserted hut is burned to the ground, and all that remains is a

vacancy of an acre or two in the forest covered with grass, weeds, briers and

bushes." In 1760, Major Robert Rogers, in command of a New Hampshire

company of Provincial Rangers, left Fort Niagara to take possession of the

French post. According to one eminent historian, they paid a visit to this

place: " On the 7th of November, 1760, they reached the mouth of the

Cuyahoga River, the present site of Cleveland. No body of British troops had

ever advanced so far. The day was dull and rainy, and, resolving to rest until

the weather should improve. Rogers ordered his men to prepare their camp in the

neighboring forest. The place has seen strange changes since that day. Soon

after the arrival of the Rangers, a party of Indian chiefs and warriors entered

the camp. They proclaimed themselves an embassy from Pontiac, ruler of all that

country, and directed in his name that the English should advance no further

until they had had an interview with the great chief, who was close at hand. He

greeted Rogers with the haughty demand, what his business was in that country,

and how he dared enter it without his permission." After parleying and

presents, the objection was withdrawn. In the opinion of Col. Whittlesey, this

reported interview did not occur here at all, but at Grand River. An expedition

sent out under Major Wilkins, in 1763, was wrecked on Lake Erie near the

Cuyahoga, or Rocky River, and was so disorganized that it had to return; while

yet another under Col. Bradstreet (1764) is supposed to have passed through this

neighborhood.




Sir William Johnson, the

superintendent of Indian affairs, paid a visit to Detroit in 1761, after the

English had obtained possession of that place, and returned home by way of the

south shore; in his diary we find this record: " Embarked this morning at

six of ye clock, and intend to beach near Cuyahoga this day."




As early as 1765 the practical

eye of Benjamin Franklin, as he scanned the crude maps of the Western country,

and listened to those who had visited it, showed him the advantages of the

Cuyahoga as a military post, and he recommended its occupancy for that purpose.

Washington himself, in discussing the question of water communication between

the northern lakes and Chesapeake Bay, suggested " the practicability of a

route from Lake Erie by way of the Cuyahoga, Tuscarawas and Muskingum into the

Ohio, as an outlet to the future inland commerce of the lakes,"

necessitating "a portage near Akron of less than seven miles, whereby

shipments were to be transferred from the lakes to the river Ohio, thence to

ascend its upper tributaries into the mountains, from whence, by another

portage, would be reached the navigable rivers falling into the Atlantic."

In the fall of 1782, the mouth of the Cuyahoga again appeared in the

discussions of the military authorities, and there occurred an incident of

travel and suffering in an endeavor to reach it, that so well illustrates the

conditions then existing, that I am led to relate it with some detail.




The newly-created American

Government had learned that the British had established a military post at

Sandusky, and were about to build another, either at Cuyahoga or Grand River.

Major Isaac Craig, of the Revolutionary Army, was ordered to take Lieutenant

Rose and six active men, visit the two points last named, and learn

"whether any such attempts were making by the enemy." The little

party set forth from Fort Pitt (Pittsburg) upon its long and perilous journey,

near the middle of November, in the year named. They reached a point they

supposed to be within a day's march of the Cuyahoga, and there left one man in

charge of their extra provisions, it being their intention, upon rejoining him,

to take a fresh supply and then proceed to a like visit to the mouth of the

Grand. We quote from the narrative as learned from Major Craig: "The

weather proved very unfavorable after the separation; the Major, with his

party, was detained beyond the appointed time, and the soldier with the horse

had disappeared, so that when they reached the designated place, weary and half-famished,

they found no relief, and had before them a journey of more than one hundred

miles, through a hostile wilderness. The examination of Grand River had of

course to be abandoned, and the party was compelled to hasten back to Fort

Pitt.




The travel back was laborious and

painful, the weather being tempestuous and variable. The party pursued the most

direct course homeward. Before they reached the Conequenessing, near about, as

Major Craig thought, where Old Harmony now stands, the weather became extremely

cold, and they found that stream frozen over, but the ice not sufficiently firm

to bear the weight of a man.




The following expedient was then

resorted to as the best the circumstances allowed: A large fire was kindled on

the northern bank of the Conequenessing, and when it was burning freely, the

party stripped off their clothes; one man took a heavy bludgeon in his hands to

break the way, while each of the others followed with portions of the clothing,

and arms in one hand and a fire-brand in the other. Upon reaching the southern

bank of the stream, these brands were placed together and a brisk fire soon

raised, by which the party dressed themselves and then resumed their toilsome

march. Upon reaching the Cranberry plains, they were delighted to find encamped

there a hunting party consisting of Captain Uriah Springer and other officers,

and some soldiers from the fort. There, of course, they were welcomed and

kindly treated, and arrived at the fort on the evening of the second of

December. The report of Major Craig was that there was no sign of occupancy at

the mouth of the Cuyahoga."




The residence of the Moravian

missionaries and their followers within the present boundaries of Cuyahoga

County was brief and unimportant, except as a chapter in the long, sad story of

that driven and persecuted people. When the " praying" Indians and

their white leaders decided to leave their temporary home in Michigan, they

determined, in May, 1786, to "plant a settlement '' on the Cuyahoga River,

and after much toil and many disasters reached a point upon its eastern bank, a

short distance below the mouth of Tinker's Creek. To this location they gave

the name " Pilgerruh," or " Pilgrim's Rest." By October

they had so far completed their village as to give them comfortable shelter for

the winter. In the spring of 1787, they prepared to move westward, to the mouth

of Black River, and on April 19th the last prayer was heard in their little

chapel at " Pilgrim's Rest," after which they commenced anew the

journeyings, some going overland, and others in canoes by way of the Cuyahoga

and Lake Erie. Very little in the way of detail touching the experiences of

these people upon our home-soil has been bequeathed to us.




There is in existence, however,

among the rich possessions of the Western Reserve Historical Society—presented

by a daughter of Moses Cleaveland—a map and a manuscript descriptive of the

same, prepared in 1796 by the Rev. John Heckewelder, a leading Moravian

missionary, who came to the Cuyahoga valley with his people, but left them

before the opening of the winter. This map covers the country from the

Alleghany River on the east, the Ohio on the south, the lake on the north, and

the Huron and Muskingum on the west, and is, of course, crude and uncertain in

both outlines and details. His manuscript bears the heading: " Description

of that part of the Western Country comprehended in my map; with remarks on

certain particular spots, etc." We quote some of these remarks, as

follows: "Altho the country in general containeth both Arable Land &

good Pasturage: yet there are particular Spots far preferable to others: not

only on account of the Land being here superior in quality: but also on account

of the many advantages presenting themselves.




"As the first place of

utility between the Pennsylvania Line: (yea I may say between Presq' Isle) and

Cujahaga; & in an East and West course as the dividing Ridge runs between

the Rivers which empty into the Lake Erie; & those Rivers or Creeks which

empty into the Ohio: (& which Ridge I suppose runs nearly Paralell with

this Lake, & is nearly or about 50 miles distance from the same): Cujahaga

certainly stands foremost; & that for the following reasons.




"1. because it admits small

Sloops into its mouth from the Lake, and affords them a good Harbour.




"2. because it is Navigable

at all times with Canoes to the Falls, a distance of upwards of 60 Miles by

Water— and with Boats at some Seasons of the Year to that place —and may

without any great Expense be made Navigable for Boats that distance at all

times.




"3. because there is the

best prospect of Water communication from Lake Erie into the Ohio, by way of

Cujahaga & Muskingum Rivers; The carrying place being the shortest of all

carrying places, which interlock with each other, & at most not above 4

miles.




"4. because of the Fishery

which maybe erected at its mouth, a place to which the White Fish of the Lake

resort in the Spring, in order to Spawn.




"5. because there is a great

deal of Land of the first Quality on this River.




"6. because not only the

River itself, has a clear & lively current, but all Waters & Springs

emptying in the same, prove by their clearness & current, that it must be a

healthy Country in general.




"7. because one principle

Land Road, not only from the Allegheny River & French Creek: but also from

Pittsburg will pass thro that Country to Detroit, it being by far the most

level Land path to that place."




In further description of this

wonderful section that has so captivated the eye of this visitor and laid its

impress upon his judgment, Mr. Heckewelder adds that the "Land on the

Cujahaga River itself is good, and well Timbered either with Oaks &

Hickory, or with lofty Chestnuts. The Cujahaga Country abounds in Game, such as

Elk, Deer, Turkey, Raccoons &c." In conclusion he inserts " the

description the late Geographer to the United States gives to this part of the

Country, copied from a Pamphlet he had printed in London in the year

1778"—the main point of which is the statement that "Cujahaga will

hereafter be a place of great importance."




Well, indeed, has that prophecy,

made eighteen years before Moses Cleaveland set foot upon this soil, been

fulfilled.




Mention of this Moravian town is

made by a traveler who visited the Cuyahoga in 1786. Col. James Hillman, of

Youngstown, Ohio, in writing to Judge Barr, under date of November 23rd, 1843,

says: " In the spring of 1786 Messrs. Duncan & Wilson entered into a

contract with Messrs. Caldwell & Elliott, of Detroit, to deliver a quantity

of flour and bacon at the mouth of the Cuyahoga River, to a man by the name of

James Hawder, an Englishman, who had a tent at the mouth of the river, for the

purpose of receiving it. In May, 1786, I engaged with Duncan & Wilson, at

Pittsburgh, as a packhorseman, and started immediately. We took the Indian

trail for Sandusky, until we arrived at the Standing Stone, on the Cuyahoga, a

little below the mouth of Breakneck Creek, where the village of Franklin is

now. There we left the Sandusky trail, and took one direct to the mouth of

Tinker's Creek, where was a little town built by Heckewelder and Zersberger,

with a number of Moravian Indians. They were Moravian preachers. Here we

crossed the Cuyahoga, and went down on the west side to the mouth. In going

down we passed a small log trading house, where one Meginnes traded with the

Indians. The mouth of the Cuyahoga was then about the same as when I last saw

it, in 1813. In 1786, there was a pond of water west of the mouth, which we

called Sun Fish Pond, where we caught sun fish. We carried axes to cut our wood,

and I remember we at one time undertook to open the mouth of the river, which

was choked up with sand. We made wooden shovels, and began to dig away the sand

until the water ran through, which took away the sand so fast that our party

was divided, a portion being left on the east side, where Cleveland now is. We

made collars of our blankets for some of the horses, and took our tent ropes,

made of raw elk skin, for tugs, drew small logs and built a hut at the spring,

which I believe was the first house built on the Cleveland side."




No mention of this house is made

by the surveyors who came with General Cleaveland.




A little later glance at the

physical outline of the Cuyahoga valley may be taken before passing on to the

real narrative of the founding and building of Cleveland. A traveler writing as

late as 1805, when the early settlers were already in possession, says: "

The Cuyahoga empties into Lake Erie by a mouth eighty-eight yards wide, and is

navigable for sloops for fifteen miles without any falls or swift water; but

there is a bar at the mouth like that of Grand river. In high water it is

boatable sixty miles to the portage, which is seven and a half miles, to the

head waters of the Tuscarawa branch of the Muskingum. Here are fine uplands,

extensive meadows, oak and mulberry trees fit for ship building, and walnut,

chestnut and poplar trees suitable for domestic services. Near the mouth of

this river are the celebrated rocks which project over the lake. They are

several miles in length, and rise forty or fifty feet perpendicular out of the

water. Some parts of them consist of several strata of different colors, lying

in a horizontal direction, and so exactly paralell that they resemble the work

of art. The view from the land is grand, but the water presents the most

magnificent prospect of this sublime work of nature: it is attended, however,

with great danger, for, if the least storm arises, the force of the surf is

such that no vessel can escape being dashed to pieces against the rocks. The

heathen Indians, when they pass this impending danger, offer a sacrifice of

tobacco to the water."




When the War of the Revolution

ended in the triumphant success of the colonies, and civilization began to push

westward with a new vigor, conflicting claims arose as to the ownership of

various portions of the West. This portion of the lake region was included with

the rest.




Years before, while Connecticut

was still a colony of England, she had acquired by grant from King Charles II.

a great range of territory lying between the same parallels as those which

bounded herself and extending " from sea to sea "—from the Atlantic

to the Pacific. When she became a State of the American Union she held to her

claim of dominion over this vast territory. That portion of this claim which

crossed the territory of New York and Pennsylvania was extinguished by

agreement among the commonwealths concerned, while that west of Pennsylvania

was left in dispute until on September 14th, 1786, when she ceded it all to the

United States, except that portion lying between the parallels of forty-one and

forty-two degrees, two minutes, and a line one hundred and twenty miles west of

the western line of Pennsylvania, and parallel with it. This tract was called

" New Connecticut," or the Western Reserve, and it was decided to

place the lands upon the market.




Some steps toward the purchase of

that portion of the Reserve upon which Cleveland stands were taken in 1788,

when a company was formed under General Samuel H. Parsons, who located a tract

embracing a quarter of a township, but no surveys were made here under his

patent. The Legislature of Connecticut, in 1792, granted to such of her

citizens as had suffered by fire or otherwise, at the hands of the British,

during the Revolution, one half million acres from the western end of this

"reserved " tract, and that section was thereafter known as "The

Fire Lands."




A further step toward the

disposal of her Western possessions was taken by Connecticut in May, 1795, when

she appointed a committee to receive any proposals that might be made "

for the purchase of the lands belonging to this State lying west of the west

line of Pennsylvania as claimed by said State to form and complete any contract

or contracts for the sale of said lands."




Eight men, representing the eight

counties of Connecticut, entered into contracts with various individuals, for

the sale of three million acres of the Reserve, for one million two hundred

thousand dollars, or a cost of forty cents per acre. These deeds were

quitclaims only, the State guaranteeing nothing as against such Indian titles

as still remained unextinguished. The holders of these deeds formed themselves

into an organization called the "Connecticut Land Company," and for

convenience in the transaction of business, conveyed their respective interests

to three trustees: John Caldwell, John Morgan and Jonathan Brace. The

management of affairs was left to a board of seven directors: Oliver Phelps,

Henry Champion, Moses Cleaveland, Samuel W. Johnson, Ephraim Kirby, Samuel

Mather, Jr., and Roger Newbury.




Elaborate '' articles of

association and agreement " were drawn up. The annual meetings of the

company were to be held in Hartford, Conn., in October, from whence the affairs

of New Connecticut were to be managed. It was determined that the Indian titles

should be extinguished, and the land surveyed into townships of five miles

square.




The proprietors were to club

together, and draw by townships, after which the owners were to receive deeds

and make their own subdivisions. In the first draft, $12,903.23 of purchase

money represented a township.




The next thing in this rapidly

moving series of events was to push the surveys preliminary to sale and

settlement. In the articles of association above referred to, the directors

were authorized " to procure an extinguishment of the Indian title to said

Reserve. • • • To survey the whole of said Reserve, and to lay the same out

into townships containing sixteen thousand acres each; to fix on a township in

which the first settlement shall be made, to survey that township into small

lots in such manner as they shall think proper, and to sell and dispose of said

lots to actual settlers only; to erect in said township a saw-mill and

grist-mill at the expense of said company, to lay out and sell five other

townships of sixteen thousand acres each to actual settlers only."




When the directors, in accordance

with these instructions, cast about for someone into whose hands should be

committed the opening of this great far Western wilderness which had come under

their control, their choice fell upon one of their number—a man of education,

legal attainments, military experience, and of good, sturdy stock. He was in

the prime of life, and eminently fitted for the responsible labors before him;

and as he was a member of the company, and one of its directors, his interest

was that of his employers.




This newly-chosen superintendent

over the agents and men sent to survey and make locations on said land, whose

name has become so closely linked with the fortunes of this great city of the

Middle West, was Moses Cleaveland." The family from which he came was of

no mean origin. The name comes from the Saxon, and before the Norman conquest

was borne by a prominent family in Yorkshire, England. "An antiquarian of

repute," writes one who has made the personal career of the founder of

Cleveland a close and loving study, states that William Cleveland, of York,

England, who died at Hinckley, in Leicestershire, in 1630, was the remote

ancestor of the American Clevelands. It is also shown that a lineal descendant

of his, whose name was Moses, and who was a housewright, or builder, by trade,

emigrated from England and landed at Boston in the year 1635, where he remained

for several years. He then, in connection with Edward Winn and others, founded

the town of Woburn, Massachusetts, where both he and Winn permanently settled.

This Moses Cleveland was a man of intelligence and enterprise. He aspired to

full citizenship and became, in 1643, what was then called a ' freeman.' The

qualifications of a 'freeman ' required that he should be of 'godly walk and

conversation, at least twenty-one years of age, take an oath of allegiance to

the government of Massachusetts Bay Colony, be worth two hundred pounds, and

consent to hold office if elected, or pay a fine of forty shillings, and vote

at all elections or pay the same fine.' The restrictions and conditions were so

onerous that many who were eligible preferred not to become freemen, being more

free as they were.




But this Moses, who had now become

a freeman, feeling that he had ancestral blood in his veins of a superior

quality, thought that it ought to be transmitted, and after a brief courtship

married, in 1648, Anne Winn, the daughter of his friend, Edward Winn, of

Woburn. In taking this step, ' Moses' did not make a mistake. The result was

that he became the accredited progenitor of all the Clevelands born in the

United States—a race not only numerous, but noted for great moral worth and

many noble traits of character."




That later Moses Cleaveland, with

whom this inquiry is directly concerned, was born on January 29th, 1754, in

Canterbury, Windham County, Connecticut. He was the second son of Aaron

Cleaveland and Thankful Paine.




They were refined, intelligent

people, who decided that the son, Moses, should receive an education, and after

the usual preparation he was sent to Yale College, from which he was graduated

in 1777. He studied for the bar, and upon admission, began the practice of the

law in his native town. No small degree of professional success was permitted

him, yet within two years his attention was turned in another direction, by his

acceptance of a commission as captain of Sappers and Miners, in the Army of the

United States. Within a short time he resigned this commission and returned to

the law. He served as a member of the Connecticut Legislature several terms,

and made an honorable record in that capacity. In 1794, he was married to

Esther, daughter of Henry Champion, who is spoken of as " a young lady of

rare accomplishments." He served in various capacities in the militia of

the State, and early in 1796 became general of the Fifth Brigade.




General Cleaveland's connection

with the Connecticut Land Company, and his experiences upon the Western

Reserve, are related elsewhere at their proper place in this narrative. He

continued his useful life, after his return from the West, until November 16th,

1806, when at Canterbury, Connecticut, he laid down his duties forever. His

life and achievements are well summarized by Mr. Rice, who says: "

Whatever else may be said of General Cleaveland, it is evident that he not only

led an honorable life, but achieved a great work. He was a man of few words and

of prompt action. His morality was an outgrowth of Puritanism and as rigid as

it was pure. He was manly and dignified in his bearing, and so sedate in his

looks that strangers often took him for a clergyman. In complexion he was

somewhat swarthy, so much so that the Indians claimed him as akin to their own

race. In personal appearance he was of medium height, erect, thick-set and

portly, had black hair, a quick, penetrating eye, muscular limbs, and a

military air in his step, indicating that he was born to command. In the social

circle he was pleasant and agreeable in his style of manners, and was always

received as a welcome guest.




He was a friend to everybody, and

everybody seemed to be his friend. In his opinions he was decisive, and could

readily give a logical reason for them. He was also a man of true courage amid

threatening dangers, and as shrewd in his tactics and management as he was

courageous. • • • His was not only a career of unusual interest, but a mission

that transformed a wilderness into a civilized land. In a word, his life-work

commands our admiration, and deserves commemoration." The instructions

conveyed to General Cleaveland were general in their character, leaving a wide

latitude to his discretion and his judgment in meeting the exigencies of the

occasion. He was to superintend the surveys, and "to make and enter into

friendly negotiations with the natives who are on said land, or contiguous

thereto, and may have any pretended claim to the same, and secure such friendly

intercourse amongst them as will establish peace, quiet and safety to the

survey and settlement of such lands not ceded by the natives under the

authority of the United States." He was further " fully authorized

and empowered to act and transact all the above business in as full and ample a

manner as we ourselves could do: to make contracts on the foregoing matters, in

our behalf and stead, and make such drafts on our treasury as may be necessary

to accomplish the foregoing objects of your appointment."




This elastic and comprehensive

commission was issued on May 12th, 1796, and so expeditious was the stirring man

in charge, that by May 19th we find him in Albany, X. Y., making active

preparations for an early advance upon the West. On that date he wrote to

Oliver Phelps, chairman of the board of directors, in a not altogether cheerful

strain:




"Albany, May 19, 1796.




"I have in rain and bad

roads arrived at this place. Mr. Porter left Schenectady on last Sunday, one

man was drowned.




I find it inconvenient and at

present impossible to obtain a loan of money without sacrifice, as our credit

as a company is not yet sufficiently known. It must then rest on drafts on

Thos. Mather & Company, dependent on their early being supplied with money

from Hartford. • • • Mr. Porter has proceeded, as I obtain information, with

all the dispatch and attention possible, but we shall all fall short, tho' our

exertions are ever so great, without pecuniary aid. I have concluded, without

adequate supply, to proceed, and as my presence is much wanted to risque

consequences, shall make drafts on Thos. Mather and Company, resting assured that

you will immediately, if at the expense of a person on purpose send on the

money immediately that can be procured, to Messrs. Mather, who will attend to

all orders and directions you may please to give. A credit once established,

the business can with great ease and less expense be transacted, but if we

shall be obliged to draw orders, and once protested, I am apprehensive that

consequences will be fatal, at least to the persons employed."




Affairs were so far carried

successfully forward that early in the succeeding June the expedition was

concentrated at Schenectady. A list of the officers and men employed was as

follows:"




Moses Cleaveland, superintendent.




Augustus Porter, principal

surveyor and deputy superintendent.




Seth Pease, astronomer and

surveyor.




Amos Spafford, John Milton

Holley, Richard M. Stoddard and Moses Warren, surveyors.




Joshua Stow, commissary.




Theodore Shepard, physician.




EMPLOYEES OF THE COMPANY.




Joseph Tinker, Boatman. Joseph

M'Intyre, George Proudfoot, Francis Gray, Samuel Forbes, Amos Sawtel, Stephen

Benton, Amos Barber, Samuel Hungerford, William B. Hall, Samuel Davenport, Asa

Mason, Amzi Atwater, Michael Coffin, Elisha Ayres, Thomas Harris, Norman

Wilcox, Timothy Dunham, George Gooding, Shadrach Benham, Samuel Agnew, Wareham

Shepard, David Beard, Titus V. Munson, Charles Parker, Nathaniel Doan, James

Halket, Olney F. Rice, Samuel Barnes, John Briant, Joseph Landon, Ezekiel

Morly, Luke Hanchet, James Hamilton, John Lock, Stephen Burbank, Daniel Shulay.


















 




CHAPTER II. LAVING

THE FOUNDATIONS.




When the order was given to move

toward the West, several of the party were placed in charge of the horses and

cattle, and sent overland to Buffalo. Others proceeded in boats by way of the

Mohawk River. On reaching Fort Stanwix, now known as Rome, N. Y., they

transferred across the portage to Wood Creek, passed down to Oneida Lake,

across that body and its outlets, and so down the Oswego River to Lake Ontario.

They sailed along the coast of the lake to the mouth of the Niagara River and

along the same to Queenstown, where they crossed another portage and reached

Chippewa, from whence they passed up the Niagara and Lake Erie to Buffalo,

where they met the detachment which had come overland.




Naturally, many hardships were

encountered upon the way, for it was no light undertaking to conduct an

expedition of this size and character across many miles of new and unbroken

country. Little is said of these, however, by the hardy men upon whom these

labors fell.




One of the surveyors, John Milton

Holley, industriously kept a journal in which a number of incidents of a minor

nature are recorded. Under date of May 31st, he says: "Stow (the

commissary) and Stoddard (one of the surveyors) came from Sodus, on Lake

Ontario, with information that three boats were cast away, but no lives or

property lost; in consequence of which we left Canandaiqua the 31st of May for

Gerundicut (Irondequoit), slept the first night at Howe's in Boughton town.




"June 1st. Went to the

landing to see our boat, but as it had not arrived, Porter, Stow and myself

embarked on Dunbar's boat, to go to the great lake to meet our boat, but as

luck would have it, we went in the boat about half a mile to the landing,

unloaded, and Porter with four hands returned to Little Sodus, to give relief

to those who were cast away, and Stow and myself with our hands encamped on the

Gerundicut. Built a bark hut, and the men lodged in it the first night. Stow

and myself lodged on the floor at Dunbar's.




"June 3rd, Gen. Cleaveland

at evening arrived at Canandaiqua and gave us information that the boats had

gone from Whitestown to Fort Stanwix, and Mr. Stow got a letter from the

British Minister, or charge des' affaires, to the commanding officer at Fort

Oswego, requesting permission for our boats to pass unmolested. This

information, together with the favorable prospect of wind and weather at that

time, gave us great hopes that the stores would get on safely and rapidly, but

on Saturday morning there sprang up in the northwest a storm, and blew most

violently on the shore of the lake. This proved fatal to one of the boats, and

damaged another very much, though we went a little forward to a safe harbor,

and built several fires on the bank of the lake, as a beacon to those coming

on. After the disaster had happened, the boat that was safe went on to the

Gerundicut with a load, and left the other three, including the one that was

stove, at Little Sodus, encamped near the lake. Among the passengers were two

families, one of the women with a little child. Started from Canandaiqua, and

arrived on the morning of the 4th. All these misfortunes happened in

consequence of not having liberty to pass the fort at Oswego. Such are the

effects of allowing the British government to exist on the continent of

America."




On June 17, the journal records

the fact that "at evening we got to Skinner's tavern, at Buffalo

creek." On the 18th: '' Porter and myself went on the creek in a bark

canoe, a-fishing, and caught only three little ones."




On Sunday, June 19th: " Left

Buffalo in Winney's boat, for Chippewa, had a fair wind down, and arrived about

one o'clock at Chippewa, dined at Fanning's, found our goods were not at the

Gore, in Chippewa, and was obliged to go to Queenstown after them, and as I

could not get a horse was obliged to walk. I got to Queenstown before night,

and lodged at Caleb Ingersoll's; next morning set out for Buffalo. On the way I

stopped to look at Niagara Falls. That river a little above Fort Slusher, is

two and one half miles wide. Soon after this the water is very rapid, and continuing

on, is hurried with amazing impetuosity down the most stupendous precipice

perhaps in nature. There is a fog continually arising, occasioned by the

tumbling of the water, which, in a clear morning, is seen from Lake Erie, at

the distance of thirty or forty miles, as is the noise also heard. As the hands

were very dilatory in leaving Chippewa, we were obliged to encamp on the great

island in the river. We struck a fire and cooked some squirrels and pigeons,

and a young partridge. I slept very sound all night, between a large log and

the bank of the river. The next day arrived at Buffalo."




It was at the point last named

that General Cleaveland was permitted to fulfill, in a measure, one of the

duties with which he had been charged by those under whose authority he was

acting. Although various treaties had been made with the Indians, by which it

was supposed they had given up all claims to the lands east of the Cuyahoga,

the party were met at Buffalo by a claim which, if not adjusted, would be certain

to create trouble in the present, and danger to the new settlements of the

future.




The General was confronted by

representatives of the Mohawk and Seneca Indians, headed by the famous Red

Jacket, and Joseph Brant otherwise known to fame by his Indian name of

Thayendanega, who were determined to use force if necessary, to oppose the

further progress of the expedition toward the West. In the skill and address

with which he met this danger and averted it, the General showed himself a

diplomat as well as a soldier.




A conference, or council, was

arranged. "At two o'clock this afternoon," we learn from the record

of Surveyor Holley, " the council fire with the Six Nations was uncovered,

and at evening was again covered until morning, when it was opened again, and

after some considerable delay, Captain Brant gave General Cleaveland a speech

in writing.




"The chiefs, after this,

were determined to get drunk. No more business was done this day. In the

evening the Indians had one of their old ceremonial dances, where one gets up

and walks up and down between them, singing something, and those who sit around

keep tune by grunting. Next morning, which was the 23rd, after several speeches

back and forth, from Red Jacket to General Cleaveland, Captain Chapin, Brant,

etc., General Cleaveland answered Brant's speech. In short, the business was

concluded in this way. General Cleaveland offered Brant one thousand dollars as

a present. Brant, in answer, told General Cleaveland that their minds were

easily satisfied, but that they thought his offer was not enough, and added

this to it, that if he would use his influence with the United States to

procure an annuity of five hundred dollars par, and if this should fail that

the Connecticut Land Company should, in a reasonable time, make an additional

present of one thousand five hundred dollars, which was agreed to. The Mohawks

are to give one hundred dollars to the Senecas, and Cleaveland gave two beef

cattle and whisky to make a feast for them."




In return for the payments above

promised, and the agreement to intercede with the government, it was guaranteed

by the chiefs that the settlers upon the Reserve should not be molested; and

this agreement, so far as they were concerned, was faithfully carried out.




Our recording surveyor pauses for

a moment in his narration of events to relate a side incident which casts a

light upon the shrewd philosophy of one of these children of the forests:

" Farmer's Brother, Red Jacket and Little Billy and Green Grass Hopper

dined with the commissioners. In the course of conversation. Red Jacket gave

his sentiments upon religion, which were to this purpose: ' You white people

make a great parade about religion; you say you have a book of laws and rules

which was given you by the Great Spirit, but is this true? Was it written by

his own hand and given to you? No,' says he, ' it was written by your own

people. They do it to deceive you. Their whole wishes center here (pointing to

his pocket); all they want is the money. (It happened there was a priest in the

room at the same time who heard him.) He says white people tell them they wish

to come and live among them as brothers and learn them agriculture. So they

bring on implements of husbandry and presents, tell them good stories, and all

appears honest. But when they are gone all appears as a dream.




Our land is taken from us, and

still we don't know how to farm it.'" This seems, in some respects, a very

shrewd presentation of the vexed " Indian question " at an early day.




These formidable powers having

been conciliated, the expedition again moved westward, in two divisions, as

before; one by land and the other by Lake Erie. On the 4th day of July, at 6 p.

m., they reached the mouth of Conneaut Creek. They were at last upon the

Reserve, and as their arrival was upon a date made memorable by the stirring

Declaration of but twenty years before, these patriotic sons of Connecticut

naturally celebrated as seemed most fitting, and with such means of rejoicing

as were at command.




There have been many celebrations

of our nation's natal day upon the Western Reserve since its opening to

civilization one hundred years ago, but there have perhaps been none more

hearty and patriotic" than this first one, held in sight of beautiful Erie,

and among the woods of Conneaut.




We can see this little band of

fifty, drawn the more closely together because they were so few in number, and

so far from home and kindred, uniting with each other in song, in toast and

hearty expressions of good will. The day had been serene, the foliage about

them was in its best shades of summer green, the little creek wound thread-like

between its banks, and out beyond the water of blue Erie sparkled in the

setting sun. There was much lacking of the needs and devices of civilization,

but they were hardy men, well used to rough service, and to whom there were but

a half dozen essentials of life just then—food, drink, clothing, shelter and

ammunition. The new flag of the new nation was flung to the breeze. Tables were

arranged, and baked beans and pork showed well in evidence. "We gave three

cheers," says Cleaveland, "and christened the place Port

Independence."




Salutes of musketry, under

command of Captain Joseph Tinker, were fired—one for each State in the Union,

and one for New Connecticut; and toasts proposed, of which the chronicler last

quoted gives a list: 1st. "The President of the United States."




2nd. "The State of New

Connecticut."




3rd. "The Connecticut Land

Company."




4th. "May the Port of

Independence and the fifty sons and daughters who have entered it this day be

successful and prosperous."




5th. "May these sons and

daughters multiply in sixteen years sixteen times fifty."




6th. "May every person have

his bowsprit trimmed and ready to enter any port that opens.'' It is with no

small regret that we fail to report the speeches made upon that occasion—for

speech there must have been, set or otherwise, among these patriotic sons of

New England. No record of these was made, as Surveyor Holley and his associates

were more interested in recording township boundaries and noting variations of

the compass, than the Fourth of July outbursts of a little band of strangers in

the new country. 




When General Cleaveland tells us

that the celebration "closed with three cheers; drank several pails of

grog, supped, and retired in good order,'' we have no right to assume that a

bibulous set of individuals had been sent upon this important mission. They

drank no more and no less than was the custom of their day, and of the

communities in which they lived. This was, beyond doubt, the first celebration

of Independence Day upon the Reserve.




On the day following, the actual

work of the expedition was commenced. General Cleaveland wrote to the directors

of the company, reporting progress; and two boats under command of Captain

Tinker were sent to Fort Erie to bring on a portion of the stores that had been

temporarily left there. The men were set to work at cutting timber, and

erecting a large log structure for temporary accommodation, which was named

"Castle Stow," in honor of Commissary Joshua Stow. It was constructed

of unhewn logs, roofed with a combination thatch of brush, wild grasses and

sod. We are told by Harvey Rice that " the style of architecture was

entirely unique, and its uncouth appearance such as to provoke the laughter of

the builders, and the ridicule of the Indians."




These red natives of the soil

were moved by yet another impulse that had a serious side, as they saw these

preparations for permanent occupation. They could not understand just what was

contemplated, but saw that something was on foot that boded no good for their

continued possession of the soil. An explanation was demanded. The manner in

which the demand was made is thus related by General Cleaveland himself:

"Received a message from the Paqua chief of the Massasagoes, residing in

Conneaut, that they wished a council held that day. I prepared to meet them,

and after they were all seated, took my seat in the middle. Cato, son of Paqua,

was the orator; Paqua dictated. They opened the council by smoking the pipe of

peace and friendship. The orator then rose and addressed me in the language of

Indian flattery, ' Thank The Great Spirit for preserving and bringing me there.

Thank The Great Spirit for giving a pleasant day,' and then requested to know

our claim to the land, as they had friends who resided on the land, and others

at a distance who would come there. They wanted to know what I would do with

them. I replied, informing them of our title and what I had said to the Six

Nations, and also assured them that they should not be disturbed in their

possessions; we would treat them and their friends as brothers.




They then presented me with the

pipe of friendship and peace, a curious one, indeed. I returned a chain of

wampum, silver trinkets, and other presents, and whisky, to the amount of about

twenty-five dollars. They also said they were poor; and as I had expressed,

hoped we should be friendly and continue to be liberal. I told them I acted for

others as well as for myself, and to be liberal of others' property was no

evidence of true friendship; those people I represented lived by industry, and

to give away their property lavishly to those who live in indolence and by

begging, would be no deed of charity. As long as they were industrious and

conducted themselves well, I would do such benevolent acts to them as would be

judged right and would do them the most good; cautioned them against indolence

and drunkenness. This not only closed the business, but checked their begging for

more whisky."




After this second council with

the Indians, the General addressed himself squarely to the work in hand, which

was to lay out a part of the Reserve into townships five miles square, and the

townships into one hundred acre lots. The surveyors were assigned to their

respective labors, and set out upon the fulfillment thereof.




It is our immediate mission to

follow only those who proceeded westward toward the Cuyahoga. In a couple of

weeks Cleaveland selected certain of his staff, and with them proceeded in an

open boat along the shore of Erie, until he reached a stream that he concluded

was the Cuyahoga, which was his objective point. He proceeded up it, as rapidly

as the sandbanks and fallen timber would permit, and soon found that he had

made the mistake of entering a stream not laid down upon his map. It is

declared by some authorities that in commemoration of this error, and of his

consequent disappointment over delay, he called the stream " the Chagrin

"—an appellation which it retains to-day. Retracing their way to the lake,

the little party sailed and rowed still westward, and on the morning of July

22nd, in the year 1796, passed into the Cuyahoga, and stood upon its eastern

bank near the entrance to the lake.




No formal ceremony marked this entrance

of civilization, in the persons of Moses Cleaveland and his men, upon the spot

where within the coming century a great city was to be reared. As a matter of

fact, the landing was very commonplace in its character. "They reached the

veritable Cuyahoga," says Mr. Rice, with that dry humor that was so

telling and characteristic, " and after advancing a short distance in its

channel, attempted to land, but in their efforts to do so ran their boat into

the marshy growth of wild vegetation which skirted the easterly bank of the

river, and stranded her. Here ' Moses,' like his ancient name's sake, found

himself cradled in the bull rushes. This occurred near the foot of Union Lane,

which was at that time the termination of an Indian trail. The party soon succeeded

in effecting a safe landing. They then ascended the precipitous bluff, which

overlooked the valley of the river, and were astonished to find a broad and

beautiful plain of woodland stretching far away to the east, west and south of

them, and lying at an elevation of some eighty feet above the dark blue waters

of Lake Erie. The entire party became enamored of the scene."




'' A young growth of oaks with

low bushy tops covered the ground," adds Col. Whittlesey," in further

description of the scene. Beneath them were thrifty bushes, rooted in a lean

but dry and pleasant soil, favorable to the object in view. A smooth and even

field sloped gently toward the lake, whose blue waters could be seen extending

to the horizon."




Those who in a mental vision can

reconstruct the scene, with the lake, and river, and wooded land; with no sign

of habitation or the work of man; with the Cuyahoga at their feet, and the

hills rising above it; with no rise of smoke in all the landscape; green leaves

above them, and verdant carpets beneath their feet; a fair sky shining over it

all, can well understand how the beauty and fitness of the place for the

purposes they had in mind were impressed upon the visitors, and that then and

there was born the fruitful thought out of which this fair and prosperous

Forest City has grown.




General Cleaveland decided—not

just then, but a little later—that the main town of such portion of the Reserve

as lay within his jurisdiction should be built here. His prophetic eye was true

in its investigation of the future, and although his little city was for a time

humiliated by being described as " six miles from Newburgh," where

the grist-mill was—all later developments have shown that in no better place

could the metropolis of the Reserve have been built.




The 5th of August found the

General back again at Port Independence (Conneaut Creek), where he made a

lengthy report to the home company, giving his views upon various things in a

plain and by no means optimistic manner. After touching upon affairs in the

eastern section of the Reserve, he says: "The Cuyahoga is navigable for

sloops about eight miles as the river runs, and for boats to the portage, if

the immense quantity of trees drove down and lodged are cleared out. The land

excellent, the water clear and lively current, and streams and springs falling

into all three rivers." We went in a Schenectady boat, the 'Cuyahoga,'

about twenty-five miles to the old Moravian Indian town, and I imagine on a

meridian line, not more than twelve or fifteen miles. Here the bottoms widen,

and as I am informed, increase in width, and if possible in quality. I believe

we could have proceeded further up the river, but found the time allotted, and

the provision inadequate to perform the whole route. At this place we found a

stream, that empties into the river, which will make a good mill seat. The

lands on the lake shore, in some places low, here and there a small cranberry

pond, not of any great extent, nor discovered low drowned lands of any bigness

for twenty or thirty miles on the lake shore. On the east of the Cuyahoga are

clay banks from twenty to forty feet high, on the top the land level, covered

with chestnut, oak, walnut, ash, and some sugar maple. There are but few

hemlocks, and those only on a swamp, pond or lake, and in the immense quantity

of flood wood lodged on the lakes and rivers, I rarely found any of that wood.

The shore west of the mouth of the Cuyahoga is a steep bank for ten miles, the

quality of the soil I know not, but from the growth and kind of timber, these

present no unfavorable aspect. I should with great pleasure, readily comply

with what I suppose you have heretofore expected that I should leave this

country about this time. I have not as yet been interrupted in a constant

attention to business, more than I could have imagined or would have

voluntarily entered into, and I see no prospect of its lessening at present.




Those who are meanly envying the

compensation and sitting at their ease and see their prosperity increasing at

the loss of health, ease, and comfort of others, I wish might experience the

hardships for one month; if not then satisfied their grumbling would give me no

pain. I apprehend the stagnant waters in Lake Erie (except to the westward)

must be of small dimensions. The interior lakes and ponds, though not included

in Livingston's computation, are, I expect, few and small, unless the land

bears more to the northwest, after it passes the Cuyahoga than it does this

side, the surplus will not be consequential. It is impossible at present to

determine on the place for the capital. More information of the extent of the

ceded lands and ye traverse of the lakes and rivers wanted, this will cause

delay and require examination.




I

believe it will be on the Cuyahoga it must command the greatest communication,

either by land or water of any other place on the purchase or on any ceded

lands west of the head of the Mohawk. I expect soon to leave this for the

westward, and shall make my residence there until I am ready to return to

Connecticut. The men are remarkably healthy, though without sauce or

vegetables, and in good spirits. I hope they will continue so."




A survey of the land chosen for

the new city was ordered. A mile square was the area then covered. Two surveys

were made—one by Amos Spafford, and one by Seth Pease; both under the

superintendence of Augustus Porter. The result was the preparation of two maps,

one by each of the surveyors, and known to local annals as "Spafford's

Map," and " Pease's Map."




The Spafford map was found among

the papers of John Milton Holley, at Salisbury, Conn., in possession of his

son, Gov. Alexander H. Holley. This endorsement, in the handwriting of Amos, is

found upon it: "Original plan of the town and village of Cleveland, Ohio,

Oct. 1st, 1796.'' The map was made by pasting several sheets of foolscap

together. Superior street at first appears as "Broad," which was

obliterated, and the present name substituted. The Public Square" is shown

by a blank space, like an enlargement of the streets crossing each other at

that point; Ontario had been first named "Court," which was erased.

"On the face of the original," to again quote Col. Whittlesey, "

there are the numbers of the lots—two hundred and twenty in number; the streets

Superior, Water, Mandrake, Union, Vineyard, Bath, Lake, Erie, Federal, Maiden,

Ontario, Huron, Ohio and Miami—fourteen in number, and the names of the parties

who had selected lots. These were: Stoddard, lot 49, northeast corner of Water

and Superior streets; Stiles, lot 53, northeast corner of Bank and Superior

streets; Landon, lot 77, directly opposite, on the south side of Superior

street; Baum, lot 65, sixteen rods east of the Public Square; Shepherd, lot 69,

and Chapman, lot 72, all on the north side of the same street. 'Pease's Hotel,'

as they styled the surveyor's cabin, is placed on the line between lots 202 and

203, between Union street and the river. Northwest of it, about ten rods, on

lot 201, their store house is laid down. Vineyard, Union and Mandrake streets

were laid out to secure access to the upper and lower landings on the river.

Bath street provided a way of reaching the lake shore and the mouth of the

river."




Even a city as yet only upon

paper must have a name, and the question as to a title for the capital of New

Connecticut, which had probably been under consideration for some time, now

demanded settlement. The name "Cuyahoga " had been proposed, and

there are letters in existence showing that it was in use to designate the

present location of Cleveland. General Cleaveland confessed himself unequal to

the task, and, we are told, " upon the earnest suggestion and advice of

the surveyors," was persuaded to make use of his own name, and thus "

Cleaveland, New Connecticut," took its place upon the yet imperfect and

uncertain maps of the Great West.




Just when and by whom the letter

"a" was first dropped from the name has never been definitely

determined. The early records vary in their custom, some following the spelling

adopted by the city's founder, and others the more convenient mode that in

later days became universal by general consent. In Judge Griswold's admirable

paper, elsewhere quoted at some length, on the corporate birth and growth of

Cleveland, we find this statement: " There was first made (in these early

surveys) a rough field note on which these lots, streets and grounds were

marked and laid out, but a more perfect and complete map was made by Seth Pease

and finished before the 1st of October of that year (1796). On this old field

map, there was written in fair hand, as well to perpetuate the General's

memory, as the event itself, ' The City of Cleveland.' In the spelling, the

letter ' a ' in the first syllable always used by the General himself was

omitted." There may be found in the office of the city clerk of Cleveland a

small and dingy book, with leaves yellowed by time, edges worn away, and the

leather cover black and moldy with decay. It contains the records of the

township of Cleveland, commencing with 1803, and in this the name is almost

altogether spelled with the " a," until about 1832 or 1833.




When the" Cleaveland Herald

" came into existence, in 1819, it was loyal to the General, in that it

used his name without omitting a letter, and so continued up to 1832, when

there is a break in the files at the rooms of the Western Reserve Historical

Society from April 12th to June 8th, 1833, on which latter date it is found

without the added letter.




One of the many and varied

statements made upon the subject is found in the following, from the pen of

Hon. A. J. Williams: "Some years before his death, Gen. A. S. Sanford, an

old settler and printer in Cleveland, and one of our most valued citizens,

related to me the circumstances that occasioned the dropping of the first 'a '

in the original name of our city, ' Cleaveland.' The letter was not omitted in

the ' Herald' until 1832, but prior to that date, the 'Cleaveland Advertiser'

was published. General Sanford said the paper for the 'Advertiser ' was

purchased from the paper mill at Cuyahoga Falls; that for one issue thereof the

paper received was too small for the heading ' Cleaveland Advertiser,' and that

to use the same, it became necessary to drop from the heading the ' a ' from

the name ' Cleaveland.' This was done, and from about that time the name of the

village and of our city became Cleveland." A more plausible theory, and

one that bears a closer mark of genuineness, is stated as follows: That when

the " Herald" was being printed, a "sheep's-foot,"—

something any old printer will know all about—struck the letter "A"

in the heading, and so battered it that it was useless. As new type could not

be had this side of Buffalo, or perhaps New York or Philadelphia, the damaged

"A" was left out, and never again found its place in the heading. J.

A. Howells, an Ashtabula editor, says that when his father was clerk of the

Ohio Senate, about 1856, one of the members of the legislature, who had been a

printer on the " Herald," made the above statement as one of fact,

and that J. A. Harris, for years editor of that newspaper, confirmed it. Mr.

Howells adds, in answer to the Sanford theory, that he compared issues of the

" Herald," both before and after the dropping of the "A,"

and found there had been no change— that the paper was of the same size right

along. In returning to the original surveys, we can do no better than use a

copious extract from a monograph prepared for presentation before the Early

Settlers' Association, by an eminent member of the Cleveland bar. Judge Seneca

O. Griswold. He said: "In the old field map, the name of Superior street

was first written' Broad,' Ontario ' Court,' and Miami ' Deer;' but these words

were crossed out with ink, and the same names written as given in Pease's map

and minutes. In Spafford's map, ' Maiden Lane,' which led from Ontario street

along the side of the hill to Vineyard Lane, was omitted, and the same was

never worked or used. Spafford also laid out Superior Lane, which was not on

the Pease map, which has since been widened, and become that portion of

Superior street from Water down the hill to the river. Bath street is not

described in the Pease minutes, but is laid out on the map, and is referred to

in the minutes, and the boundaries and extent appear on the map. The Square

also is not described in the Pease minutes, but is referred to in the

description of Ontario and Superior streets, and is marked and laid out on the

map.




In Spafford's minutes the Square

is thus described: 'The Square is laid out at the intersection of Superior

street and Ontario street, and contains ten acres. The center of the junction

of the two roads is the exact center of the Square.' These surveys, the laying

out of the lots bounding on the Square, their adoption by the land company, the

subsequent sale by said company of the surrounding lots abutting upon it, make

the Square as much land devoted to public use as the streets themselves, and

forever forbids the same being given up to private uses. The easterly line of

the city was the east line of one tier of lots, beyond Erie street, coinciding

with the present line of Canfield street. The east line began at the lake and

extended southerly one tier of lots south of Ohio street. The line then ran to

the river, down to the river, skipping the lower bend of the river to Vineyard

Lane, thence along Vineyard Lane to the junction of Water with Superior street,

thence to the river, thence down the river to its mouth. Superior street, as

the survey shows, was 132 feet in width, the other streets 99 feet. It is

hardly possible to fully appreciate the sagacity and foresight of this leader

of the surveying party. With full consciousness of what would arise in its

future growth, he knew the city would have a suburban population, and he

directed the immediate outlying land to be laid off in ten-acre lots, and the

rest of the township into 100-acre lots, instead of the larger tracts into

which the other townships were divided. The next year the ten-acre lots were

surveyed and laid out. They extended on the east to the line of what is now

Willson avenue, and on the south to the top of the brow of the ravine formed by

Kingsbury Run, and extended westwardly to the river bank. Owing to the peculiar

topography of the place, some of the two-acre lots had more and others less

than the named quantity of land, and the same occurred in the survey and laying

out of the ten-acre lots. The flats were not surveyed off into lots, and there

was an unsurveyed strip between the west line of the ten-acre lots and the

river, above and below the mouth of the Kingsbury Run, running south to a point

west of hundred-acre lot 278. Three streets were laid out through the ten-acre

lots, each 99 feet in width to correspond with the city streets, called the

South, Middle and North Highway. The southerly one becoming Kinsman street, the

Middle, Euclid street at its intersection with Huron; the southerly one

received its name from the fact that Kinsman, the east township of the seventh

line of townships, was at a very early period distinguished for its wealth and

population. The Middle was called Euclid because that was the name of the next

township east. The North Highway was a continuation of Federal street, but

changed to St. Clair, after the name of the territorial governor, whose name,

in the minds of his admirers, was a synonym of Federal."




As yet no civil township had been

organized in this portion of the present Cuyahoga County, the territory upon

the east side of the river being a part of Washington County, of the Northwest

Territory. It was a question whether legal jurisdiction there was held by the

territorial authorities or by the Connecticut Land Company. The section west of

the Cuyahoga River nominally belonged to the county of Wayne, and, although the

pre-emption rights had been purchased by the land company, the claims of the

Indians had not been satisfied, and they were still in undisputed possession.




The survey township, in which

Cleveland was situated, was one of the six which had been selected to be sold

for the direct benefit of the company as an organization, and not divided among

the stockholders, as was the case with so many of the other towns of the

Reserve. The plan, as proposed, was to first sell only a quarter of the

townships; and a proposition was submitted by Augustus Porter, the chief of the

surveyors, as to the manner in which such sale was to be carried out. This plan

has been described in full: " In the first place, city lots Number 58 to

63 inclusive, and 81 to 87 inclusive, comprising all the lots bordering on the

Public Square, and one more, were to be reserved for public purposes, as were

also ' the point of land west of the town' (which we take to be the low

peninsula southwest of the viaduct), and some other portions of the flats if

thought advisable. Then Mr. Porter proposed to begin with lot number one, and

offer for sale every fourth number in succession throughout the towns, on these

terms. Each person who would engage to become an actual settler in 1797 might

purchase one town lot, one ten or twenty-acre lot, and one hundred-acre lot, or

as much less as he might choose; settlement, however, to be imperative in every

case. The price of town lots was to be fifty dollars; that of ten-acre lots

three dollars per acre; that of twenty-acre lots two dollars per acre; and that

of hundred-acre lots a dollar and a half per acre. The town lots were to be

paid for in ready cash; for the larger tracts twenty per cent, was to be paid

down, and the rest in three annual installments with annual interest. It will

be seen that even at that time the projectors of Cleveland had a pretty good opinion

of its future; valuing the almost unbroken forest which constituted the city at

twenty-five dollars per acre in cash, while equally good land outside its

limits was to be sold for from three dollars down to a dollar and a half per

acre, with three years' credit." Not many incidents have been placed upon

record of the life and labors of the little party, who, during the summer and

early fall of 1796, were industriously engaged in laying the foundations of the

Forest City. It was by no means a life of ease and pleasure—the surveyors, as

Colonel Whittlesey says, " were not always sure of supper at night, nor of

their drink of New England rum.




which constituted an important

part of their rations; their well provided clothing began to show rents, from

so much clambering over logs and through thickets; their shoes gave out

rapidly, as they were incessantly on foot, and were where no cobblers could be

found to repair them; every day was one of toil, and frequently of discomfort.




The woods, and particularly the swamps,

were filled with ravenous mosquitoes, which were never idle, day or night; in

rainy weather the bushes were wet, and in clear weather the heat was

oppressive. It was not always practicable to have provisions promptly delivered

to the surveying parties, so that their work could go on without

interruption."




Affairs had reached a rather

unpleasant strait by the later days of September, when the surveyors and their

assistants, who had collected at headquarters, found themselves out of meat,

with but little flour, a couple of cheese, and some chocolate. As they were

figuring on ways and means, some sharp eye saw a bear swimming across the

river. There was a rush for guns and canoes, and in the midst of the excitement

the bear paused, turned about, landed upon the western shore, and carried the

anticipated fresh meat of the hungry men into the woods. The success attending

a raid upon the reptile kingdom was more gratifying, as we find in Holley's

Journal the entry: "Munson caught a rattlesnake, which we boiled and

ate." Later in the day a party with provisions and cattle came over from

Conneaut, and were received with an unquestioned welcome.




A readjustment of the arrangement

between the Connecticut Land Company and the surveyors' staff was one of the

outcomes of the hardships of the expedition, which led to a greater claim for

compensation than, at first, had been agreed upon. An informal agreement had

been made in July, at Conneaut, General Cleaveland speaking for the company,

and the men for themselves.




A meeting was held " at

Cleaveland " on the 30th of September, for the purpose of carrying this

agreement into effect. General Cleaveland signed for the company, and forty-one

of the men for themselves. The township chosen for division was that next east

of Cleveland; and in deference to the great mathematician—a patron saint of the

surveyor's art—the name " Euclid " was chosen as its designation—a

suggestion credited to Moses Warren.




It was mutually agreed that each

party was to have an equal share in the township; each man pledged himself to

remain faithfully in the service of the company to the end of the year, and a

further pledge was made as follows: in the year 1797 there should be eleven

families settled in the township; eleven houses built; and two acres of wheat

sown around each house. In 1798, eighteen more families were to settle; build

eighteen additional houses; and five acres cleared for wheat around each

residence. Fifty acres were to be sown to grass. A further increase in all

these respects was to be made in the year following; and there must be, in

1800, forty-one families resident in the township. In case salt springs were

discovered on a lot, it was to be excepted from the agreement, and other lands

given instead. A meeting of the new proprietors of Euclid was held on the same

day and in the same place, where lots were cast as to who were to fulfill the

conditions of settlement in 1797, in 1798, etc.




Near the middle of October, as

the premonitions of winter warned those who were to return to the East that it

was time to be going, preparations were rapidly made for departure. By the 18th

of the month the surveyors and their assistants were gone, leaving Joseph

Landon and Job P. Stiles and his wife Tabitha in sole charge of the paper city.

Elijah Gun and Anna, his wife, were in a like manner left in possession of

Castle Stow, at Conneaut. The Stileses had announced their intention of

becoming actual settlers, and a cabin was constructed for them on lot 53, on

Bank street, near Frankfort street. Joseph Landon soon abandoned his purpose of

remaining permanently, and returned to the East before the setting in of

winter. The Stileses were not left altogether alone, however, as Edward Paine,

the subsequent founder of Painesville, Lake County, became perhaps an inmate of

their home, or at least a neighbor, and began to trade with the Indians—the

Chippewas, Ottawas, etc., who made their winter camps on the west side of the

river, and trapped and hunted upon both sides.




They also had as neighbors the

Seneca Indians, who encamped at the foot of the bluff, between Superior and

Vineyard streets. A chief of this tribe was the famous Seneca, who was friendly

to the whites, and is spoken of by those who knew him as " a noble

specimen of Indian character." The Indians supplied their white neighbors

in the cabin on the hill with game, and showed their friendship in various

ways. Their hunting grounds in the winter were along the Cuyahoga, Mahoning,

Grand, Tuscarawas, Black and Kilbuck, and in the spring they sold their furs to

the traders, and sailed away in their bark canoes to the Sandusky and Miami,

where they passed the summer. The last that was seen of Seneca in this region

was as late as 1809.




The surveyors, who worked their

way back through the autumn weather to old Connecticut, did not have altogether

a pleasure excursion in the going. Surveyor Holley again takes up the thread of

narration, from which an occasional extract is made: "Tuesday, Oct. 18th,

we left Cuyahoga at 3 o'clock 17 minutes for Home. We left at Cuyahoga Job

Stiles and wife and Joseph Landon, with provisions for the winter. Wm. B. Hall,

Titus V. Munson and Olney Rice engaged to take all the pack horses to Geneva.




Day pleasant, and fair wind about

southeast; rowed about seven and a half miles and encamped for the night on the

beach. There were fourteen men on board the boat, and never, I presume, were

fourteen men more anxious to pursue an object than we were to get

forward." At 3 o'clock on the following morning, as the moon shone

brightly, they hoisted sail and again moved eastward. "Just before sunrise

we passed the first settlement (except those made by ourselves) that is on the

shore of the lake in New Connecticut. This is done by the Canandaigua

Association Co., under the direction of Mayor Wells and Mr. Wildair." They

were compelled to run ashore because of the high wind, and remained in camp a

mile east of the Chagrin River until the following day. They reached Conneaut

about noon of the 21st, " took inventory of the articles left there, and

about four o'clock in the morning, that is, on Saturday the 22nd, we hoisted

sail for Presque Isle;" passed on to Buffalo Creek, which they reached in

the evening of October 23rd, struck a fire, and were asleep in less than thirty

minutes from the time of landing. They reached Canandaigua at sunset of the

29th, and proceeded from thence by the usual route of travel. This is the last

we shall see of this faithful chronicler, who settled in Connecticut, and

raised a family, among his sons being a future governor of that State.




When the party reached home with

their reports, Seth Pease carefully prepared another map of Cleveland, that in

its main features was like the one already described.




The terms of sale suggested by

Mr. Porter were substantially confirmed by the company, who also donated to

Mrs. Stiles one city lot, one ten-acre lot, and one one-hundred-acre lot in the

city and township of Cleveland— no doubt as a recognition of the fact that she

was the first woman resident. A one-hundred-acre lot was also given Mrs. Anna

Gun, who had been temporarily located in Conneaut, but contemplated settlement

in Cleveland. A gift of a like lot was made to James Kingsbury and wife—the

first emigrants to the Reserve who had no connection whatever with the company;

and also a city lot to Nathaniel Doan, who had acted as blacksmith for the

company—the agreement in his case being that he should reside upon it, and

provide for the pioneer settlement a blacksmith shop. This contract was carried

out, and among the earliest sounds of industrial toil heard in the new city was

the ring of the hammer upon Nathaniel's anvil.


















 




CHAPTER III. THREE

TRYING YEARS.




Through the leafy avenues of the

June that followed, the eyes of the waiting pioneers upon the Cuyahoga saw the

advance guard of the second corps of surveyors who had been sent out for

another year of labor. Some changes had occurred in the winter. Mr. Paine had

permanently departed in the early spring for a point to the eastward, where he

laid the foundations of the little city that bears his name. In May, the Guns

had come from Conneaut, thus making the second family to find a residence in

Cleveland.




In the January preceding (1797),

a meeting of the Connecticut Land Company had been held, at which the directors

and trustees were instructed to urge upon the Legislature the expediency of

erecting a county which should include all of the Western Reserve. A committee

on behalf of the stockholders was appointed to inquire into the causes of the

" very great expense of the company during the first year; the causes

which have prevented the completion of the survey; and why the surveyors and

agents have not made their report." An assessment of five dollars per

share of the company stock was ordered; and a committee of partition appointed,

consisting of Daniel Holbrook, Moses Warren, Jr., Seth Pease and Amos Spafford.

In the hands of another committee was reposed the duty of making a general

inquiry into the conduct of the directors; which body made a report in

February, exonerating these officials in all respects.
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